IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Appellate Case No. 2025-000772

The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

State of South CarolinaRespondent,

v.

George Smith.....Appellant.

RECEIVED
Jan 13 2026
SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Elizabeth Franklin-Best
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113
Columbia, SC 29204
803-445-1333
elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com

Counsel for Appellant

Other Counsel:

Mark Farthing
SC Attorney General’s Office
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
803-734-3727

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 8, 2009, George Smith was convicted after a jury trial before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran of assault and battery with intent to kill (ABWIK), armed robbery, and possession of a gun during the commission of a violent crime. He was sentenced to twenty-five years' imprisonment. Harry Devoe represented him at trial. The victim in the case was Kelvin Black.

Mr. Smith suspected that, during the course of his representation, Devoe simultaneously represented a member of the victim's family, Brodtus Black, a conflict Devoe never disclosed to him. Although Mr. Smith attempted to raise this issue as grounds for post-conviction relief (PCR), Devoe testified at the hearing that he had never heard of Brodtus Black before that day, and PCR counsel was unable to locate records to evidence the conflict. The PCR court ruled Smith failed to prove the conflict and denied relief. ROA 287-288.

In March 2019, Mr. Smith obtained evidence that Devoe had an actual conflict and filed a pro se motion for a new trial pursuant to Rule 29(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure on September 26, 2019, and accompanying memorandum October 17, 2019. ROA 299-319. After no action occurred on the filed motion, Smith retained the undersigned counsel. Counsel then filed an amended Rule 29(b) petition on August 29, 2022. An evidentiary hearing was held at the Clarendon County courthouse on July 28, 2023. The motion was denied on April 16, 2025.

This appeal timely follows.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The circuit court erred in not granting George Smith a new trial pursuant to South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 29(b) when Smith proved at the evidentiary hearing that his trial counsel operated under an actual conflict of interest during the pendency of his representation.**

Relevant Facts

On April 6, 2008, in Clarendon County, South Carolina, Kelvin Black was shot in the leg during a robbery. The alleged assailant was George Arsenio Smith, known to the victim by the nickname "Chips." ROA 30. According to testimony, Smith approached Black on a lit path while Black was walking home from a club, demanded money at gunpoint, and shot Black in the leg when he continued walking. ROA 32. Black then returned home, where his wife saw the suspect and later identified him.

Kevin Black testified that on April 6, 2008, while walking home from a bar between 2-4:00am, he encountered "Chips" who demanded Black's chains and money while holding a black handgun. ROA 30, 31. On cross-examination, Black admitted that he "had a lot of drinks" that night at the bar. ROA 42. Tasha Cannon, Black's wife, confirmed that she heard a disturbance and saw "Chips" outside her apartment shortly after the shooting. ROA 66.

Investigator Burgess described his role in processing the crime scene and interviewing witnesses. He confirmed that Black immediately identified the shooter as "Chips" and later confirmed the identification in a photo lineup. Burgess explained how the photo lineup was

composed and confirmed that Smith was not apprehended until two months later. He detailed the discovery of blood at the scene and several shell casings, including a live round. Burgess acknowledged the gun was never recovered, and no forensic testing linked Smith to the scene. On cross-examination, the defense challenged the reliability of the photo identification and pointed to the lack of physical evidence (e.g., no fingerprints, DNA, or firearm recovery). ROA 78- 104.

At the hearing on the new trial motion, Smith testified that after his PCR hearing, he obtained proof that his trial counsel, Mr. Devoe, represented Brutus Lamonte Black, the victim's brother, in another matter. ROA 324. He identified an entry from the public index that showed that Devoe represented the defendant and that evidence was entered into the record. ROA 325. Devoe represented Brutus Lamonte Black at the same time he represented Smith in this case. ROA 326. Smith testified that, had he known of that relationship, he would have wanted trial counsel to be replaced with another attorney. ROA 327.

“To prevail on a motion for a new trial based on after discovered evidence, a defendant must show (1) the evidence is such as will probably change the result if a new trial is granted; (2) the evidence has been discovered since the trial; (3) the evidence could not have been discovered prior to trial by the exercise of due diligence; (4) the evidence is material; and (5) the evidence is not merely cumulative or impeaching.” *State v. Needs*, 333 S.C. 134, 157–58, 508 S.E.2d 857, 869 (1998).

“To establish a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to effective counsel due to a conflict of interest arising from multiple representation, a defendant who did not object at trial must show an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his attorney's performance.” *Thomas v. State*, 346 S.C. 140, 143, 551 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001). “An actual conflict of interest occurs where an attorney

owes a duty to a party whose interests are adverse to the defendants.” *State v. Gregory*, 364 S.C. 150, 152, 612 S.E.2d 449, 450 (2005). “[T]he sixth amendment requires that **a defendant may not be represented by counsel who might be tempted to dampen the ardor of his defense in order to placate his other client.**” *Id.* at 150, 612 S.E.2d at 450–51 (quoting *Zuck v. Alabama*, 588 F.2d 436, 439 (5th Cir. 1979)). “[A] defendant who shows that a conflict of interest actually affected the adequacy of his representation need not demonstrate prejudice to obtain relief.” *Staggs v. State*, 372 S.C. 549, 551–52, 643 S.E.2d 690, 692 (2007).

Here, Mr. Smith’s trial counsel, Harry Devoe, had an actual conflict of interest when he undertook to represent both Mr. Smith and Brodtus Black—the brother of the victim in Mr. Smith’s case. Brodtus Black was arrested April 28, 2009, and pleaded guilty July 6, 2009, to various drug charges; Devoe was his counsel of record. ROA 311. Devoe’s deficient representation reveals how these divided loyalties dampened the ardor of his defense. The entirety of his representation was colored with a lack of preparation or real understanding of the issues. He admitted at the PCR hearing that the trial was called “with no notice” the day before it started but said he did not request a continuance because he was “prepared enough” to go to trial. ROA 249-251. Devoe did not even bring to the trial court’s attention that the trial was called without warning because the judge was a former solicitor, so Devoe supposed the judge would just know. ROA 255.

Hardly ready for trial, Devoe’s lack of preparedness is apparent. The State’s case was based entirely on eye-witness testimony—there was no deoxyribonucleic acid or other forensic evidence. ROA 208. Yet Devoe did not provide any meaningful defense. He failed to investigate a potential

alibi witness, Levi Lang, with whom Mr. Smith was staying at the time of the robbery¹ and although Devoe testified Mr. Smith's mother and family were going to "get some witnesses" he had no idea why the witnesses did not show up for trial except for the fact that the trial was called without notice. ROA 196, 249. He never requested a continuance or, apparently, looked for witnesses himself. Importantly, although this was an eyewitness case, Devoe failed to meaningfully challenge the credibility of Brodtus Black's family members—namely the victim Kelvin Black and Kelvin's wife Tasha Cannon. Mr. Smith had other charges pending against him also involving Cannon that were ultimately dismissed, and Mr. Smith wanted Devoe to bring that to the jury's attention as motive for identifying him as the shooter. ROA 205-08, 272.

And although where there is an actual conflict of interest, a defendant need not prove prejudice, Devoe's deficient representation was prejudicial. Even though he had been a public defender for well over a decade, Devoe failed to challenge the illegality of the twenty-six-year sentence Mr. Smith received for ABWIK, despite the fact that the statutory maximum is twenty-years' imprisonment. He instead only asked the court to reduce the sentence to the (still illegal) twenty-five-years' imprisonment the judge had given Mr. Smith for the armed robbery conviction. The judge declined and stated "the fact that he doesn't - - - didn't have a significant records and he is that young, is the only reason I didn't max him." ROA 149. The judge was entirely mistaken on the sentencing framework and was under the impression he was giving a favorable sentence based on Mr. Smith's age, so Devoe's failure to clarify the law was undoubtedly detrimental to his

¹ At the PCR hearing, Devoe testified "[t]he first time I ever heard of Levi, uncle, is today." ROA 248. However, he similarly states he "[n]ever heard the name Broadus [sic] before today," ROA 252, whom he represented. ROA 311.

client. Had the judge known the actual outer sentencing limits of the ABWIK charge, he may have modified the sentences to reflect the leniency based on age he thought he was doing.

CONCLUSION

The Court should remand for a new trial.