RECEIVED

Jan 12 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY
Court Of General Sessions
The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000772

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

GEORGE SMITH,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted in August of 2008 by the Clarendon County Grand Jury for assault and battery with intent to kill, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime.

On December 8, 2009, Appellant proceeded to a jury trial and was found guilty as indicted. Judge Cothran sentenced Appellant to twenty years' imprisonment for assault and battery with intent to kill,¹ twenty-five years for armed robbery, and five years for possession of a weapon during a violent crime, with all sentences running concurrently.

On appeal Appellant argued the trial judge erred in sentencing Appellant to twenty-six years for assault and battery with intent to kill, which only carries a maximum sentence of twenty years. The State argued the issue was not preserved for review. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed. State v. Smith, Op. No 2012-UP-350 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 6, 2012). The remittitur was sent on June 25, 2012.

Appellant filed a timely application for post-conviction relief on August 22, 2012. An evidentiary hearing was held on September 10, 2014, before the Honorable Clifton Newman. Judge Newman issued an Order of Dismissal signed on September 21, 2016, and filed on November 3, 2016, denying and dismissing the application with prejudice. Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal of the denial of his post-conviction relief application on January 9, 2017. The Supreme Court denied the petition on April 19, 2018.

Subsequently, Appellant moved for a new trial pursuant to Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP. An evidentiary hearing was held on July 28, 2023, before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr. The motion was denied on April 16, 2025. Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal.

¹ Although Judge Cothran originally sentenced Appellant to twenty-six years' imprisonment for ABWIK, at some point the sentence was changed to twenty years. (R. p. 193).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant's convictions arose from a shooting that took place on April 6, 2008, in Clarendon County. (R. p. 81). The victim had known Appellant, who went by Chips, for some time, but never considered him a friend. (R. p. 35; p. 66). The victim was walking home from a bar in the very early morning. (R. p. 63). He heard a gun click, looked, and saw Appellant behind him. (R. p. 33). Victim and his wife testified Appellant shot Victim in the leg. (R. p. 34; p. 70). Additionally, Investigator Burgess testified that Victim identified Appellant as the shooter shortly after the incident. (R. p. 85). Victim's wife was also able to identify Appellant out of a photographic lineup. (R. p. 88). Victim also stated Appellant demanded and took Victim's silver and gold neck chains. (R. p. 32; p. 39). Victim testified Appellant demanded money, but that Appellant did not have any to give. (R. p. 39). Victim stated that after Appellant shot him in the leg, he aimed the gun at the victim's face and pulled the trigger but the gun didn't fire. (R. p. 38).

Appellant was found guilty as indicted. Appellant was sentenced to twenty years' imprisonment for assault and battery with intent to kill,² twenty-five years for armed robbery, and five years for possession of a weapon during a violent crime, with all sentences running concurrently.

Subsequently, Appellant sought post-conviction relief on the ground that Counsel failed to properly advise Appellant of a conflict of interest. (R. p. 287). The court denied relief, stating Appellant failed to present any evidence of a conflict and noting Counsel stated he did not remember representing Victim's brother. (R. pp. 287-288). Appellant also raised five other issues regarding trial Counsel's alleged deficiencies. (R. p. 278). Ultimately, the court found Counsel was not ineffective. (R. p. 293). The PCR court noted the evidence against Appellant was

² As previously mentioned, that sentence was originally twenty-six years. (R. p. 193).

“overwhelming” as three witnesses identified Appellant as the attacker and two of them testified. (R. pp. 286-287).

At the hearing for a new trial on July 28, 2023, Appellant introduced a public index printout showing Victim’s brother was arrested on April 24, 2009, and showing a disposition date of July 6, 2009. (R. p. 325). It was noted that Counsel represented Appellant in his jury trial in December of 2009. (R. p. 326). Appellant stated had he known of Counsel’s previous representation he would have sought removal. (R. p. 327). Appellant’s counsel stated at the hearing “I cannot really explain why this was not discovered at the appropriate time[.]” (R. p. 328). Appellant further argued that case law supported an examination on the merits. (R. p. 328). The court denied relief, noting that the prior representation was discoverable in 2009 and noting the representation was tangential and inconsequential to the case at issue. (R. pp. 336-337).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Palmer, 415 S.C. 502, 511, 783 S.E.2d 823, 827 (Ct. App. 2016). “On review, we may not make our own findings of fact. The deferential standard of review constrains us to affirm the trial court if reasonably supported by the evidence.” State v. Mercer, 381 S.C. 149, 166, 672 S.E.2d 556, 565 (2009). “A motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge.” State v. Irvin, 270 S.C. 539, 545, 243 S.E.2d 195, 197 (1978).

ARGUMENT

I. The court properly found Counsel did not have an actual conflict of interest because Counsel's prior representation of Victim's brother did not present a situation with divided loyalties.

Appellant alleges the court erred in failing to award a new trial because Counsel had an actual conflict of interest. Relief is not appropriate because the prior representation could have been discovered through reasonable diligence. Even so, Counsel did not have an actual conflict of interest because the prior representation was inconsequential and presented no competing interest.

Rule 29(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that "A motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence must be made within one year after the date of actual discovery of the evidence by the defendant or after the date when the evidence could have been ascertained by the exercise of reasonable diligence." Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP. In order to warrant the granting of a new trial on the ground of after-discovered evidence, the movant must show the evidence (1) is such as will probably change the result if a new trial is granted; (2) has been discovered since the trial; (3) could not have been discovered before the trial by the exercise of due diligence; (4) is material to the issue; and (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching. State v. Spann, 334 S.C. 618, 619–20, 513 S.E.2d 98, 99 (1999). When the issue largely hinges on the issue of credibility, this Court has deferred the determination of the trial court. State v. Harris, 391 S.C. 539, 545, 706 S.E.2d 526, 529 (Ct. App. 2011); State v. Porter, 269 S.C. 618, 621, 239 S.E.2d 641, 643 (1977) (noting that the determination of whether new evidence is credible for purposes of a new trial motion rests with the trial court).

“The guarantee of conflict-free representation ensures that a defendant is provided assistance by an attorney whose allegiance to his client is not diluted by conflicting interests or inconsistent obligations.” People v. Yost, 184 N.E.3d 269, 275 (Ill. 2021).

The mere possibility defense counsel may have a conflict of interest is insufficient to impugn a criminal conviction. Langford v. State, 310 S.C. 357, 359, 426 S.E.2d 793, 795 (1993). Yet, a defendant need not demonstrate prejudice if there is an actual conflict of interest. Thomas v. State, 346 S.C. 140, 551 S.E.2d 254 (2001); Duncan v. State, 281 S.C. 435, 315 S.E.2d 809 (1984). In Duncan v. State, 281 S.C. at 438, 315 S.E.2d at 811 (1984), our Supreme Court set forth the following test to determine when an actual conflict of interest occurs:

[W]hen a defense attorney places himself in a situation inherently conducive to divided loyalties.... If a defense attorney owes duties to a party whose interests are adverse to those of the defendant, then an actual conflict exists. The interests of the other client and the defendant are sufficiently adverse if it is shown that the attorney owes a duty to the defendant to take some action that could be detrimental to his other client. An actual conflict of interest occurs where an attorney owes a duty to a party whose interests are adverse to the defendant’s.

Massachusetts courts have noted an “actual” conflict of interest arises where the independent professional judgment of counsel is impaired, by his or her own interest, or by the interests of another client. 30A Mass. Prac., Criminal Practice & Procedure § 19:29 (4th ed.). Their courts have also stated that “[b]ecause the range of interests and obligations that might conceivably give rise to a potential conflict is unlimited . . . the defendant carries a special burden to prove, without mere conjecture or speculation, both the existence and the precise character of the alleged conflict of interest.” Com. v. Mosher, 920 N.E.2d 285 (Mass. 2010).

Our courts have found instances where counsel’s interest and obligations went beyond mere speculation. See Staggs v. State, 372 S.C. 549, 551, 643 S.E.2d 690, 692 (2007) (ordering a new trial where attorney simultaneously represented a defendant and the defendant’s father,

mother, and brother, all of whom were charged as accessories after the fact); State v. Gregory, 364 S.C. 150, 154, 612 S.E.2d 449, 451 (2005) (finding “Gregory’s attorney had an actual conflict because he placed himself in a ‘situation inherently conducive to divided loyalties’ by simultaneously representing Gregory and the assistant solicitor who was handling his criminal case.”).

First, as noted by the State and just as the circuit court judge found when denying relief, Counsel’s representation could have been discovered through reasonable diligence in 2009. (R. p. 330). Rule 29 plainly requires the information not be ascertained through reasonable diligence and such information could have reasonably been obtained here. The court noted that the Public Defender’s office had the capability to track case assignments at the time and anyone relevant to the case could have obtained the information presented here. Since the statute is clear and the information was available prior to trial, relief under this rule is not appropriate. Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 533 S.E.2d 578 (2000) (“Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the court’s place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute”).

Second, Appellant failed to establish an actual conflict because Counsel’s representation did not present a situation with divided loyalties. The court properly noted that the representation of Victim’s brother was “tangential and unrelated” to the case at issue. The mere fact that Counsel also represented Victim’s brother at an earlier point in an unrelated matter does not establish Counsel had a duty to take action detrimental to Appellant’s case. Courts have gone so far as to find that a mere relationship between Counsel and a Victim does not alone establish a conflict. People v. Yost, 184 N.E.3d 269, 281 (Ill. 2021) (“Because [counsel’s] representation of the victim was not contemporaneous with his representation of defendant, we reject the appellate court’s conclusion that a reversible per se conflict of interest exists as a matter of law.”); White

v. State, 877 S.E.2d 649 (Ga. Ct. App. 2022) (finding counsel’s connection to victim did not create actual conflict of interest).

Here, Counsel’s alleged conflict does not go beyond conjecture or speculation. In fact, the representation was so tangential and inconsequential Counsel stated at the PCR hearing that he did not represent Victim’s brother³. (R. p. 252). Nothing in the record establishes the relationship between Counsel and Victim’s brother created an actual conflict such as the simultaneous representation situations presented in Staggs and Gregory. In fact, the representation of Appellant was several months after the representation of Victim ended. Accordingly, Appellant failed to show Counsel’s representation presented an actual conflict.

Additionally, Counsel’s alleged “lack of preparedness” does not show divided loyalties. Because Appellant has failed to establish a conflict of interest, allegations of deficiency are properly addressed through other avenues. Notably, the PCR court found Counsel was not ineffective and stated the evidence against Appellant was overwhelming. (R. pp. 286-287).

This Court should affirm.

³ The court noted that it was reasonable to believe Counsel did not draw a connection between Appellant and Victim’s brother due to the limited amount of time he represented Victim’s brother.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.